Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect





Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

Recent advances in chitosan-based nanoparticles for oral delivery of macromolecules $\stackrel{\bigstar}{\succ}$



Mei-Chin Chen ^{a, 1}, Fwu-Long Mi ^{b, 1}, Zi-Xian Liao ^{c, 1}, Chun-Wen Hsiao ^c, Kiran Sonaje ^c, Min-Fan Chung ^c, Li-Wen Hsu ^c, Hsing-Wen Sung ^{c,*}

^a Department of Chemical Engineering, National Cheng Kung University, Tainan, Taiwan ROC

^b Department of Biochemistry, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan ROC

^c Department of Chemical Engineering, National Tsing Hua University, Hsinchu, Taiwan ROC

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Accepted 17 October 2012 Available online 15 November 2012

Keywords: Oral drug delivery Transcellular pathway Paracellular pathway Bioavailability Mucoadhesion Tight junction

ABSTRACT

Chitosan (CS), a cationic polysaccharide, is widely regarded as a safe and efficient intestinal absorption enhancer of therapeutic macromolecules, owing to its inherent mucoadhesive feature and ability to modulate the integrity of epithelial tight junctions reversibly. By using CS-based nanoparticles, many studies have attempted to protect the loaded macromolecules against acidic denaturation and enzymatic degradation, prolong their intestinal residence time, and increase their absorption by the intestinal epithelium. Derivatives of CS such as quaternized CS, thiolated CS and carboxylated CS have also been examined to further enhance its effectiveness in oral absorption of macromolecular drugs. This review article describes the synthesis of these CS derivatives and their characteristics, as well as their potential transport mechanisms of macromolecular therapeutics across the intestinal biological membrane. Recent advances in using CS and its derivatives as carriers for oral delivery of hydrophilic macromolecules and their effects on drug transport are also reviewed.

© 2012 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introduction	866		
2.	Transport mechanisms of macromolecules across intestinal epithelium	866		
	2.1. Transcellular route	866		
	22 Paracellular route	866		
2		000		
3.		868		
	3.1. Quaternized CS	868		
	3.2. Thiolated CS	870		
	3.3. Carboxylated CS	870		
	3.4. Amphinhilic CS	870		
	3.5 CS derivatives bearing chelating agents	871		
	3.6 DECultated CS	871		
1	Site and the second ND systems for and dollarsy of marsonalegular	071		
4.		0/1		
	4.1. Protein delivery	871		
	4.1.1. Insulin and its analogs	871		
	4.1.2. Exendin-4	875		
	4.1.3. Salmon calcitonin (sCT)	875		
	4.1.4. Cvclosporin A (CsA)	875		
	42 Nucleic acid delivery	876		
	1.2. Nuclei alu delivery	070		
_	4.3. Polysacchande delivery	870		
5.	Conclusions	876		
Acknowledgment				
References				

This review is part of the Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews theme issue on "Nanoparticle- and biomaterials-mediated oral delivery for drug, gene, and immunotherapy".

* Corresponding author at: Department of Chemical Engineering, National Tsing Hua University, Hsinchu 30013, Taiwan ROC. Tel.: +886 3 574 2504.

E-mail address: hwsung@che.nthu.edu.tw (H.-W. Sung).

¹ The first three authors (M.C. Chen, F.L. Mi and Z.X. Liao) contributed equally to this work.

1. Introduction

Recent advances in biotechnology and genetic engineering have made the mass production of therapeutic macromolecules, such as proteins, nucleic acids and polysaccharides, feasible [1]. As is generally assumed, the oral route is the most convenient and comfortable means of administration of these hydrophilic macromolecules for patients. However, the oral bioavailability of these therapeutic agents is severely limited by their low stability in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and their poor permeability across intestinal biological membranes [2–5]. Hence, vehicles that can protect the loaded macromolecules from destruction in the GI tract and increase their intestinal absorption capacity are highly desired.

As is widely assumed, chitosan (CS)-based nanoparticles (NPs) are a promising vehicle for oral delivery of therapeutic macromolecules. CS is a nontoxic and biocompatible polysaccharide derived from the shells of crustaceans and insects [6–8], with its safety demonstrated in both animal models and humans [9–12]. Available in an oral pill form, CS can reduce dietary fat and cholesterol absorption [9,10,12]. In addition to protecting the loaded therapeutics against acidic denaturation and enzymatic degradation, CS-based NPs exhibit a mucoadhesive feature, capable of prolonging their residence time in the small intestine [13,14]. Moreover, CS can mediate the opening of tight junctions (TJs) between epithelial cells reversibly, thus facilitating the paracellular transport of hydrophilic macromolecules [15–17]. Therefore, many studies have focused on using CS-based NPs to improve the oral bioavailability of macromolecular agents [18–21].

Recent studies have demonstrated that the mucoadhesive feature of CS and its ability to mediate the opening of TJs depend strongly on its protonation degree [22–25]. As the pKa value of the amine groups on CS is approximately 6.5, CS is protonated and thus soluble at acidic pH, yet aggregates at neutral pH [26,27]. This finding suggests that CS can be effective as a mucoadhesive agent and an absorption enhancer only in a limited area of the intestinal lumen where the pH values are below or close to its pKa (e.g., in the duodenum) [28].

Many studies modified the chemical properties of CS to improve its solubility and increase its absorption enhancement capability in an environment where the pH value is neutral [28–31]. For instance, quaternized CS has been synthesized to improve the solubility of CS and its effectiveness as an absorption enhancer in the intestinal pH environments [28]. Additionally, according to previous studies, immobilization of the thiol groups on CS can significantly enhance its mucoadhesive capability [29–31]. This review article discusses the synthesis of various CS derivatives and their inherent properties. The potential transport mechanisms of therapeutic macromolecules orally delivered by CS-based NPs across the intestinal epithelium are also described. Finally, recent advances in using CS and its derivatives as carriers for oral delivery of active macromolecules are described as well.

2. Transport mechanisms of macromolecules across intestinal epithelium

Intestinal epithelium is the major barrier for the absorption of macromolecules from the intestinal lumen to the systemic circulation [32]. This epithelial cell layer consists of enterocytes, goblet cells and M cells (Fig. 1A) [33,34]. As the most abundant epithelial cells in the intestine, enterocytes are specialized cells responsible for transporting nutrients by active transport or passive diffusion [35]. The second most abundant cells in the intestinal epithelium are goblet cells, which can secrete mucus, a physical barrier against pathogens [36,37]. Characterized by their flattened apical surfaces and lack of mucus layer, M cells are specialized epithelial cells that reside predominantly in Peyer's patches in the ileum, the distal portion of the small intestine. In contrast to enterocytes, M cells can take up antigens and microorganisms from the

intestinal lumen and then deliver them to the underlying immune system of mucosa [38].

Intestinal absorption of macromolecules occurs either through the transcellular or paracellular route (Fig. 1B) [39]. As an efficient absorption enhancer and drug carrier [40], CS increases both transcellular and paracellular transports of macromolecules across the intestinal epithelium [41].

2.1. Transcellular route

Transcellular uptake of CS-based NPs occurs by transcytosis, a process by which carriers are taken up by enterocytes or M cells, mimicking the entry of pathogens (Fig. 1B) [42]. By using two in vitro cellular models to partially reproduce the characteristics of intestinal enterocytes and M cells, Kadiyala et al. demonstrated that NP transport through the M-cell co-culture model is 5 folds higher than that of the intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers [43].

Transcellular transport can be enhanced by adapting the physicochemical properties of NPs, such as their particle size and mucoadhesivity [44]. NPs under 100 nm are likely to be absorbed by the enterocytes, while particles larger than 500 nm are likely to be taken up by the M cells of the Peyer's patches [45–47].

Improving the mucoadhesive ability of NPs is also an effective means of increasing their uptake by epithelial cells [3,42,48–50]. CS is a well-known mucoadhesive polymer, whose mucoadhesive property is due to an electrostatic interaction between the positively charged CS and the negatively charged sialic-acid residues on the mucosal surface [22]. This interaction can provide a prolonged contact between the CS-based NPs and the absorptive surface, thereby promoting their oral absorption capacity. CS mucoadhesion is also supported by the observation that CS increases significantly the half time of its clearance from the GI tract [51].

Several studies have established the effectiveness of the mucoadhesive CS-based NPs in increasing their transcellular permeability in the intestinal mucosa [42,52–54]. Woitiski et al. found that multilayered NPs containing CS and alginate facilitate the insulin permeation across rat intestinal mucosa by internalizing insulin-loaded NPs into epithelial cells [54].

2.2. Paracellular route

Absorption via the paracellular route (i.e., uptake through the interstitial space between epithelial cells) is normally restricted by the relatively narrow width of the paracellular channels and the presence of TJs. The TJs form a barrier that allows the absorption from the lumen of needed water and electrolytes, but prevents the passage of inflammatory and infectious agents into the systemic circulation [55]. They are composed of a complex combination of transmembrane integral proteins, including claudins (CLDNs), occludin and junctional adhesion molecules along with several intracellular plaque proteins and several regulatory proteins, which anchor the transmembrane proteins to the actin cytoskeleton [56,57]. Transmembrane proteins, especially CLDNs, play a major role in forming the seal between adjacent cells. Plaque proteins are necessary to form a structural support for TJs, and regulatory proteins regulate signal transductions involving TJ permeability and cell differentiation [57–59].

Our recent study elucidated the mechanism and consequences of CS-mediated reversible TJ opening in Caco-2 cell monolayers [60]. According to those results, following CS treatment, redistribution of CLDN4 from the cell membrane to the cytosol is related to its degradation in lysosomes, subsequently decreasing TJ strength and ultimately increasing paracellular permeability [60]. Importantly, TJ disruption likely occurs through multiple mechanisms. This study further demonstrates that reconstruction of TJs during recovery depends on CLDN4 synthesis (Fig. 2) [60]. Moreover, elucidating the mechanism of CS-induced TJ opening in intestinal cells significantly contributes to



Fig. 1. Schematic illustrations of (A) the structure of the intestinal epithelium comprising enterocytes, goblet cells and M cells in Peyer's patches; (B) the presumed mechanisms of the transcellular and paracellular transport of macromolecules.

efforts to use CS and its derivatives as paracellular permeation enhancers.

Our recent investigation examined the mucoadhesion of CS and its subsequent effects on the opening of epithelial TJs and their paracellular permeability in rats by using microscopic and ultra-structural approaches [61]. In this study, the CS labeled by quantum dots (CS-QD) is administered to ICR mice that had been fasted overnight. Light microscopic images of the intestinal segments revealed that the CS-QD complex could adhere to and infiltrate the intestinal mucosa (Fig. 3A, blue arrows) [61].

Transmission-electron microscopic examination revealed that several electron-dense CS aggregates (blue arrows) dotted the brush border and were retained in the microvilli scaffold of the intestinal villi (Fig. 3B) [61]. Despite the occasional observation of a few electron-dense particulates over the TJs (Fig. 3C) [61], the particulates were sel-dom found in the paracellular spaces. Moreover, the particulates were absent in the basal region of the intestinal villi and in the lacteal lumen. Since the pKa value of CS is around 6.5 [62], CS molecules can aggregate when brought to the physiological pH of approximately 7.4 (as in the mucus layer), possibly explaining the poor permeation of CS molecules in the paracellular spaces.

This study investigated the lanthanum (an electron-dense tracer) staining of the exposed intestinal segments to visualize the TJ opening activity of CS. In the control groups, without the opening of TJs (white arrow), lanthanum was observed mainly on the microvilli surface (Fig. 3D) [61]. However, after the oral administration of CS, paracellular

surfaces were stained (red arrows), revealing the opening of TJs following CS treatment (Fig. 3E) [61]. Additionally, a lateral cell surface was occasionally found to exhibit TJ opening with segmental lanthanum-staining (red arrows, Fig. 3F) [61]; meanwhile, the other paracellular cell surface remained unstained (white arrows). Above data verify the mucoadhesive characteristics of CS and provide definitive evidence of its TJ-opening activity.

Theoretically, paracellular transport of NPs is infeasible because the interstitial space between epithelial cells in natural state ranges from 0.3 to 1 nm, which is too narrow for most NPs to permeate [48,63]. Even in a fully-opened state, the width of TJs is less than 20 nm [64], which remains extremely limited for the transport of intact CS NPs across the paracellular space. Therefore, the paracellular permeability of macromolecules must be more likely attributed to the anticipated release of drugs from the disintegrated CS NPs [16,65]. The presumed mechanism is that CS NPs can adhere to and infiltrate the mucus; the infiltrated NPs become unstable and disintegrate near the epithelial cell surface due to their pH sensitivity and subsequent release of the loaded drugs. The released drug can then enter the systemic circulation due to the CS-mediated TJ opening (Fig. 1B) [65].

Whether CS can also enhance the absorption capacity of endotoxins in the small intestine when TJs are opened remains a contentious issue. We have investigated how CS NPs affect the absorption of lipopolysaccharide (LPS), the most commonly found toxin in the GI tract [16]. Experimental results indicate that the insulin loaded in



Fig. 2. Schematic illustrations showing the mechanism and consequence of chitosan (CS)-mediated reversible tight junction (TJ) opening. Reproduced with permission from Ref. [60], Copyright 2011 Elsevier.

CS NPs can traverse across the intestinal epithelium and enter the systemic circulation, whereas LPS fails to do so, probably, owing to the charge repulsion between the anionic LPS in the form of micelles and the negatively charged mucus layer [16]. The in vivo toxicity study further confirms that the improvement of paracellular permeation by CS fails to increase the absorption of LPS [16]. Results of this study demonstrate that CS NPs are highly promising for use as a safe carrier for oral drug delivery.

3. Synthesis and characterization of CS derivatives

Chemical modification of CS is feasible because it has reactive amino and hydroxyl groups that can be readily modified with a diverse array of ligands, functional groups and moieties [14]. Various chemical modifications, including quaternization, thiolation, carboxylation, alkylation, acylation, PEGylation and graft copolymerization, have been performed to further improve the beneficial properties of CS such as its aqueous solubility, mucoadhesivity as well as enzymatic inhibitory and TJ opening abilities for oral drug delivery [7,8,15,44, 66–70].

3.1. Quaternized CS

Quaternization of CS can conserve its positive charge at a neutral pH value, thus increasing its aqueous solubility significantly [71]. Various quaternized CS derivatives, trimethyl CS (TMC), dimethylethyl CS (DMEC), diethylmethyl CS (DEMC) and triethyl CS (TEC), have been synthesized [7,8,15,69,70]. TMC is a partially quaternized derivative of CS prepared by the reductive methylation of CS, in which methyl iodide and sodium iodide are inserted in an alkaline solution of *N*-methyl pyrrolidinone (NMP) [72]. TMC-based NPs have been extensively studied for its potential to increase the absorption for oral delivery of macromolecules, owing to the effectiveness of TMC in mucoadhesion as well as in mediating a TJ opening at distinct intestinal pH environments [71–76].

DMEC, DEMC and TEC with different substituted *N*-alkyl groups can be made based on TMC synthesis with some modifications (Fig. 4) [77–81]. The TJ opening ability of quaternized CS derivatives depends on their degree of quaternization [28]; a higher degree of quaternization (or higher charge density) implies a higher transport capability [82]. Length of the substituted *N*-alkyl groups on quaternized CS also plays an important role in profoundly impacting



Fig. 3. (A) Light microscopic image and (B) TEM micrograph showing the mucoadhesion and infiltration of silver-enhanced QD-CS (blue arrows) in the intestinal villi 3 h after oral administration to mice; (C) an evidence of the inability of QD-CS aggregates to pass through the apical opening of the intercellular space (white arrowhead). TEM micrographs showing the lanthanum-stained intestinal segments (D) before and (E, F) after chitosan treatment in mice. The lanthanum staining of intercellular surfaces (red arrows) indicated the opening of tight junctions. Scale bars: 1 µm.

Reproduced with permission from Ref. [61], Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.

their paracellular permeability. An ethyl group, which is longer than a methyl group, substituted on the nitrogen atoms of CS may shield the positive charge of the quaternary amines due to the steric hindrance, subsequently lowering the efficiency of quaternized CS in their transport enhancement [78]. The effectiveness of NPs prepared by quaternized CS derivatives on the opening of TJs and transport of insulin across Caco-2 cell monolayers was found to be in the following order: TMC > DMEC > DEMC > TEC > CS [78].

Another quaternized CS [quaternary ammonium palmitoyl glycol CS (GCPQ), an amphiphilic polymer] was synthesized to facilitate the dissolution of hydrophobic drugs by forming polymeric micelles [83,84]. A previous study demonstrated that GCPQ micelles can



Fig. 4. Schematic illustrations of the synthesis of quaternized chitosan (CS) derivatives. Trimethyl CS (TMC), dimethylethyl CS (DMEC), diethylmethyl CS (DEMC) and triethyl CS (TEC).

improve the ability of encapsulated hydrophobic drugs to adhere to and penetrate the mucus layer, subsequently increasing their permeability across the intestinal epithelium [84].

3.2. Thiolated CS

Thiolated CSs are synthesized by covalently coupling with sulfhydryl bearing agents such as cysteine, thioglycolic acid and glutathione onto the backbone of CS; in addition, they can be prepared through either a ring opening reaction of 2-iminothiolane or a direct imidoester reaction of isopropyl-S-acetylthioacetimidate [85,86]. These reactions lead to the formation of different thiolated CS derivatives, including CS-thioglycolic acid (CS-TGA) [87], CS-cysteine (CS-Cys) [88], CS-glutathione [89], CS-4-thio butyl-amidine (CS-TBA) [22,90] and CS-thioethylamidine (CS-TEA) (Fig. 5A) [91].

In contrast to the unmodified CS, the mucoadhesive strength of thiolated CS derivatives to the intestinal mucosa increases significantly, making them especially attractive for oral delivery of macromolecules [50,92–98]. This feature may be attributed to the formation of disulfide bonds between their thiol groups and the cysteine-rich subdomains of glycoproteins in the mucus layer, which is stronger than the ionic interaction between cationic CS and anionic mucosal substances [88,99]. According to a previous study, the extent to which the mucoadhesive strength of thiolated CS is increased is correlated with its degree of thiolation [30].

The thiolated TMC, TMC-cysteine (TMC-Cys), is synthesized via amide bond formation between the residual primary amino groups on TMC and the activated esters of carboxyl groups on cysteine (Fig. 5B) [50,100]. The TMC-Cys derivative was synthesized to combine the mucoadhesion- and permeation-enhancing effects of TMC and thiolated polymers related to different mechanisms for oral absorption [50]. Mucoadhesion and permeation enhancing effects of TMC-Cys NPs were significantly higher than those of TMC NPs [50]. Since particle

translocation necessitated a preliminary phase of attachment of the particles to the mucosal surface [89], the more significantly enhanced permeation level by TMC-Cys NPs than that of TMC NPs could be ascribed to the ameliorated contact with epithelial cells favored by concentrating the particles in the mucus layer through disulfide bonding.

3.3. Carboxylated CS

CS can be chemically modified by negatively charged carboxyl groups to increase its water solubility. Carboxymethyl CS derivatives can be prepared by introducing the $-CH_2COOH$ groups onto 6-O and 2-N atoms on CS [101,102]. Another carboxylated CS derivative, N-succinyl CS, can be obtained by introducing succinyl groups into the glucosamine units of CS via ring-opening reactions with succinic anhydride (Fig. 6) [101]. Owing to their ability to contain both cationic $(-NH_3^+)$ and anionic $(-COO^-)$ groups, carboxymethyl and succinyl CS derivatives can be regarded as polyampholytes [101]. A previous study demonstrated that carboxylated CS derivatives decrease the transepithelial electrical resistance (TEER) and increase the paracellular permeability of heparin in epithelial cell monolayers, which is an indication of permeation enhancers [6].

Carboxylated CS can be grafted with poly(methyl methacrylate) by using ammonium persulfate as a radical initiator to prepare carboxylated CS grafted NPs (CCGN), which have pH-sensitive properties [103,104]. In simulated gastric fluid, the release of insulin from CCGN was relatively slow, while its release in the simulated intestinal fluid at pH 7.4 was instant [104]. A minimal drug release in the gastric fluid is desired for oral delivery of macromolecules to avoid their gastric degradation.

3.4. Amphiphilic CS

Amphiphilic CS derivatives can be prepared by grafting hydrophobic compounds such as aliphatic acids (C6–C16) via *N*-acylation [105,106]



Fig. 5. Schematic illustrations of the synthesis of thiolated CS derivatives (A) through covalently coupling methods: CS-thioglycolic acid (CS-TGA), CS-cysteine (CS-Cys), CS-4-thio butyl-amidine (CS-TBA), and CS-thioethylamidine (CS-TEA); (B) the synthesis of TMC-cysteine (TMC-Cys).



Fig. 6. Schematic illustrations of the synthesis of carboxymethyl CS and succinyl CS derivatives.

or bile acids/fatty acids through amidating reaction on CS [107–109]. In an aqueous environment, polymeric amphiphiles can self-assemble into NPs due to the interaction between their hydrophobic and hydrophilic segments [110]. As is well known, two residues are present in the mucin for mucoadhesive interaction: the charged acidic groups on sialic acid and sulfonated residues and the hydrophobic methyl groups on fucose residues [111]. Therefore, carriers containing hydrophobic segments may have a better affinity to the mucin [112,113].

A previous study prepared an amphiphilic CS derivative, lauryl succinyl CS (LSC), by chemical modification of CS with the hydrophobic lauryl and hydrophilic succinyl moieties (Fig. 7) for oral insulin delivery [112]. The hydrophobic lauryl group on LSC can assist its mucoadhesivity, while its carboxyl group of succinyl moiety can chelate calcium ions, subsequently inhibiting the proteolytic enzymes and disrupting the structure of TJs [112].

3.5. CS derivatives bearing chelating agents

Although CS exhibits mucoadhesive and TJ opening capabilities, its efficacy as an absorption enhancer for macromolecule delivery is limited, owing to its lack of enzyme inhibitory ability [113]. Intestinal metallopeptidases can be divided into luminally secreted enzymes and brushborder-membrane bound enzymes [114]. Chelating agents, including nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA), ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) and diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA), can inhibit these peptidases owing to their deprivation of essential divalent cations (e.g., Ca^{2+} and Zn^{2+}) out of the enzyme structures [115]. Additionally, according to a previous study, chelating agents disrupt adherens junctions by chelating the extracellular Ca^{2+} [116]. The assembly of TJs between epithelial cells requires the previous formation of adherens junctions; thus, disruption of the adherens junctions modulates TJ formation and their paracellular permeability [117]. CS can be endowed with the metallo-peptidase inhibiting ability and improvement of paracellular permeability through the conjugation of one of these chelating agents (Fig. 8) [118–120].

3.6. PEGylated CS

As a highly hydrophilic, flexible polymer, poly(ethylene glycol) (PEG) has an inherently long circulating property, making it an attractive polymer for modifying the surfaces of drug carriers to increase their hydrophilicity and circulating half-life [121]. PEGylated CS (CS-PEG) can be synthesized by using PEG-succinimidyl succinate or activated esters of PEG carboxylic acids capable of reacting with the primary amine groups on CS to form stable amides (Fig. 9) [122–125]. Nanocapsules coated by CS-PEG improve their stability in simulated GI fluids and reduce their cytotoxicity [126–128].

4. Efficacy of CS-based NP systems for oral delivery of macromolecules

4.1. Protein delivery

Therapeutic proteins such as insulin, calcitonin and cyclosporine A have become the drugs of choice for treating distinct diseases owing to their high selectivity and ability to provide effective and potent physiological actions [129]. CS-based NPs have been extensively studied for their use in orally delivering these protein drugs, demonstrating their potential to improve oral bioavailability. This section reviews recent advances in using CS-based NPs for oral protein delivery and their efficacy in drug transport (Table 1).

4.1.1. Insulin and its analogs

Exogenous insulin is essential in treating diabetes mellitus. Normally transported to the liver via the portal circulation, endogenously secreted insulin suppresses hepatic glucose production and causes cells in the liver, muscle and fat tissue to take up glucose from the blood, resulting in a hypoglycemic effect [130]. Oral delivery of exogenous insulin is a preferred route owing to its ability to reproduce the physiological profile of insulin undergoing the first hepatic bypass [131,132]. This route can improve glucose homeostasis and also avoid hyperinsulinemia induced



Fig. 7. Schematic illustration of the synthesis of lauryl succinyl CS (LSC).



Fig. 8. Schematic illustrations of the synthesis of CS derivatives bearing chelating agents nitrilotriacetic acid (NTA), ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) or diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid (DTPA).

by subcutaneous injection (SC) [133]. Nevertheless, delivering insulin orally often leads to a low bioavailability, owing to its presystemic degradation and inadequate permeation through the intestinal epithelium [134,135].

Recent studies described a pH-responsive NP system shelled with CS, capable of increasing the oral absorption of insulin and producing a hypoglycemic effect in diabetic rats [65,66,136,137]. Insulin-loaded NPs were obtained by adding an aqueous $poly(\gamma-glutamic acid)$ (γ -PGA, negatively charged) blended with insulin into an aqueous CS (positively charged) solution under magnetic stirring. This ionotropic gelation method is promising, since CS/ γ -PGA NPs can be prepared under aqueous-based conditions at room temperature, thus preventing the denaturation of protein drugs [19,138,139].

According to the in vivo toxicity study, CS/γ -PGA NPs were well tolerated, even at a dose 18 times higher than that used in the pharmacodynamic (PD) and pharmacokinetic (PK) studies [65]. The in vivo fluorescence-microscopic results demonstrated that insulin could be absorbed into the systemic circulation, while most CS was retained in the microvilli scaffolds (Fig. 10A) [61]. These observations were verified in a biodistribution study following the oral administration of isotopelabeled nanoparticles by single-photon emission computed tomography (Fig. 10B) [61]. Oral administration of the insulin-loaded CS/ γ -PGA NPs showed a significant hypoglycemic effect for at least 10 h in diabetic rats; in addition, the relative bioavailability of insulin compared to SC was 15% [65].

A follow-up biodistribution study showed that some of the orally administered CS/ γ -PGA NPs were retained in the stomach for a long duration, which might lead to the loss of insulin from test NPs [136]. An attempt was made to further increase the bioavailability of insulin by

freeze-drying and filling CS/ γ -PGA NPs in an enteric-coated capsule [136]. The in vivo dissolution study revealed that the enteric-coated capsule could prevent the loaded NPs from contacting the highly acidic gastric media, but liberated them rapidly in the proximal segment of the small intestine. Consequently, all test NPs loaded in the capsule were brought into the small intestine, subsequently increasing the absorption capacity of insulin into the systemic circulation; in addition, the relative bioavailability of insulin was approximately 20%.

As is well known, complexing agents such as DTPA inhibit intestinal proteases and interfere with epithelial TJs by chelating divalent metal ions [115–117]. A recent study attempted to maintain the complexing agent concentrated on the intestinal mucosal surface, where enzyme inhibition and paracellular permeation enhancement are required, by covalently conjugating DTPA on y-PGA and forming functional NPs with CS for oral insulin delivery (Fig. 11) [134]. The γ -PGA-DTPA conjugate inhibited the intestinal proteases substantially, as well as produced a transient and reversible enhancement of paracellular permeability. An earlier study found that intestinal absorption by CS improved mainly in the duodenum [65]. Results of this study demonstrate that CS/y-PGA-DTPA NPs can increase the absorption of insulin throughout the entire small intestine. The improved absorption in the jejunum and ileum may be attributed to the mediation of TJ opening by γ -PGA-DTPA. Additionally, oral intake of the insulin-loaded CS/y-PGA-DTPA NPs by diabetic rats produced a prolonged reduction in blood glucose levels revealing a maximum insulin concentration 4 h after treatment. The relative oral bioavailability of insulin was approximately 20%.

A previous study also demonstrated that CS/γ -PGA NPs are a promising vehicle for oral delivery of aspart-insulin, i.e. a rapid-acting insulin analog [137]. Results of a biodistribution study indicated that



Table 1

Selected examples of CS-based NP systems for oral delivery of macromolecules.

Formulation	Drug	Observation	Ref.
CS/γ-PGA NPs	Insulin	Hypoglycemic effect lasted for at least 10 h; BA ^a was 15%	[65]
CS/γ-PGA NPs in an enteric-coated capsule	Insulin	BA ^a was 20%	[136]
CS/γ -PGA-DTPA NPs	Insulin	BA ^a was 20%	[134]
CS/dextran sulfate NPs	Insulin	Hypoglycemia effects prolonged over 24 h; PA was 5.6%	[19]
CS/alginate NPs	Insulin	Hypoglycemia effects prolonged over 18 h; PA was 6.8%	[138]
CCGN	Insulin	PA was 9.7%	[104]
LSC NPs	Insulin	Hypoglycemia effects lasted for 6 h	[112]
CS/y-PGA NPs	aspart-insulin	Biodistribution study indicated that the aspart-insulin was absorbed into the systemic circulation,	[137]
		while the CS carrier was mainly restricted in the gastrointestinal tract; BA ^a was 15%	
CS/γ -PGA NPs in an enteric-coated capsule	Exendin-4	BA ^a was 15%	[20]
CS-PEG coated nanocapsules	sCT	Reduction in the serum calcium levels for at least 24 h	[127]
CS NPs	CsA	BA was increased to about 73% when compared with the reference Neoral® microemulsion orally	[149]
GCPQ NPs	CsA	Maximum plasma concentration of CsA was increased 2-fold when compared with the commercial	[84]
		Neoral® formulation orally	
CS/heparin complexes	Heparin	0.2-0.3 IU/mL of Anti-Factor Xa activity in plasma was maintained for up to 12 h; BA ^b was 20.5%	[18]

Abbreviations: CS, chitosan; γ -PGA, poly(γ -glutamic acid); NPs, nanoparticles; DTPA, diethylenetriaminepentaacetic acid; CCGN, carboxylated CS grafted NPs; LSC, lauryl succinyl CS; PEG, poly(ethylene glycol); GCPQ, quaternary ammonium palmitoyl glycol CS; sCT, salmon calcitonin; CsA, Cyclosporin A; BA, bioavailability; PA, relative pharmacological bioavailability. BA was determined based on the serum drug level relative to that achieved via the subcutaneous^a or intravenous^b drug injection. PA was determined based on the extent of the hypoglycemic response relative to that achieved via the subcutaneous insulin injection.

the orally administered aspart-insulin was absorbed into the systemic circulation, while the drug carrier (CS) was retained mainly in the gastrointestinal tract. Orally administering test NPs exhibited a slower but more prolonged absorption of aspart-insulin than that of SC injection, implying that it is likely to reduce the risk of hyperinsulinemia commonly observed via SC injection [137]. Additionally, the relative



K: Kidney; St: Stomach; SI: Small intestine; C: Colon; UB: Urinary bladder

Fig. 10. (A) Fluorescence images showing the intestinal villi retrieved from a rat model 3 h after being orally administered with fluorescent nanoparticles; (B) reconstructed 3D single-photon emission computed tomography images showing the biodistribution of ^{99m}Tc-CS and ¹²³I-insulin in rats orally treated with the isotope-labeled nanoparticles. Reproduced with permission from Ref. [61], Copyright 2012 American Chemical Society.



Fig. 11. Schematic diagrams showing the compositions of CS/γPGA-DTPA nanoparticles (NPs) and their mechanisms for inhibition of intestinal proteases and enhancement of paracellular permeation. TJs: tight junctions; AJs: adherens junction. Reproduced with permission from Ref. [134], Copyright 2012 Elsevier.

bioavailability of aspart-insulin orally delivered by test NPs was approximately 15%. Comparing the PD/PK profiles of the orally administered aspart-insulin with those of the SC injection of NPH-insulin, an intermediate-acting insulin, implies the feasibility of the CS/ γ -PGA NP system for use as a noninvasive alternative for basal insulin therapy.

Sarmento et al. developed CS/dextran sulfate NPs [19] and CS/alginate NPs [138] for oral insulin delivery. Confocal microscopic examination of the FITC-labeled insulin orally delivered by the developed NPs to diabetic rats clearly showed its adhesion within the intestinal mucosa and absorption into the epithelium. The hypoglycemia effects were prolonged over 24 h and 18 h; in addition, the pharmacological availabilities were 5.6% and 6.8% for the groups treated with CS/dextran sulfate NPs and CS/alginate NPs, respectively.

Quaternized CS derivatives, such as TMC, with an improved aqueous solubility over that of native CS are considered potential intestinal absorption enhancers to increase the paracellular transport capability [118]. TMC can open the TJs of intestinal epithelium at physiological pH values, where CS is insoluble and therefore ineffective [28]. A recent study demonstrated that self-assembled TMC/ γ -PGA NPs opened the TJs of Caco-2 cells to facilitate the transport of insulin along the paracellular pathway at all test intestinal pH environments [74]. This finding suggests that TMC/ γ -PGA NPs may be a promising carrier for transmucosal delivery of insulin within the entire intestinal lumen.

Effectiveness of thiolated CS as an oral delivery vehicle can be attributed to its pronounced mucoadhesiveness [140,141]. Thiolated CS, however, is insoluble at a neutral pH value, thus limiting its efficiency in mucoadhesion [99]. To address this concern, Yin et al. synthesized TMC-Cys to increase the aqueous solubility of thiolated CS while maintaining its mucoadhesive feature for oral insulin delivery [50]. In contrast to their TMC counterparts, TMC-Cys NPs promoted Caco-2 cell permeability by 1.7 - 3.0 folds, subsequently increasing insulin transport through the rat intestine by 1.7 - 2.6 folds and increasing the uptake in the Peyer's patches by 1.7 - 5.0 folds, respectively.

Cui et al. prepared pH-sensitive carboxylated-CS grafted poly(methyl methacrylate) NPs (CCGN) as an insulin carrier [104]. The release of insulin from CCGN strongly depended on the protonation degree of their carboxyl groups. Moreover, the pH-sensitivity of CCGN resulted in a slow release of insulin at acidic pH (pH 2.0) and a fast release at neutral pH (pH 6.8–7.4). This observation implies the protection of the loaded insulin against an acid environment in the stomach. Oral administration of insulin-loaded CCGN led to a significant hypoglycemic effect in rats; in addition, the pharmacological bioavailability was 9.7%.

Another study developed a NP system composed of a CS derivative LSC and sodium tripolyphosphate (TPP) for oral delivery of insulin [112]. The NPs prepared by this CS derivative with both the hydrophobic (lauryl) and hydrophilic (succinyl) moieties more significantly improved both the mucoadhesivity of CS and the characteristics of insulin release as well as its paracellular permeability than those of the native CS particles. The increased mucoadhesive capacity of LSC NPs can

be attributed to the lauryl groups, which could develop a hydrophobic interaction with the protein domains in mucins. Their results further demonstrated that LSC NPs can reduce the blood glucose levels in diabetic rats for about 6 h.

4.1.2. Exendin-4

Exendin-4, a 39-amino-acid peptide found in lizard saliva, is a potent insulinotropic agent in diabetic patients [142]. However, its therapeutic utility is limited due to the frequent injections required [143]. This peptide shares several glucoregulatory activities with the mammalian incretin hormone glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1), such as glucose-dependent enhancement of insulin secretion, suppression of glucagon secretion, as well as reduction of gastric mobility and food intake [144]. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has approved exenatide, a synthetic version of exendin-4, as adjunctive therapy for type 2 diabetic patients failing to achieve glycemic control with oral antidiabetic agents [145]. Gedulin et al. elucidated the biological activity of exenatide delivered via distinct non-injection routes. According to their results, the bioavailability of exenatide, relative to the SC administration, was minimal: enteral (intraduodenal) route of ~0%, sublingual route of 0.6%, intranasal route of 2.7%, and pulmonary aerosol route of 0.2% [143].

Nguyen et al. developed an orally available exendin-4 formulation by using an enteric-coated capsule containing CS/ γ -PGA NPs [20]. Their dissolution study on rats found that the enteric-coated capsule remained intact while in the stomach; whereas it was dissolved promptly in the proximal segment of the intestine and then released its loaded content (Fig. 12). Oral administration of the capsule containing exendin-4-loaded NPs showed a maximum plasma concentration 5 h after treatment; the bioavailability, relative to its SC counterpart, was approximately 15%. The absorbed exendin-4 could then stimulate the insulin secretion and provide a prolonged glucose-lowering effect. Above results suggest that this orally available exendin-4 formulation warrants further exploration as a potential therapy for diabetic patients.

4.1.3. Salmon calcitonin (sCT)

Calcitonin, a peptide hormone of 32 amino acids, has been administered for many years to lower blood calcium and treat bone diseases, including osteoporosis and Paget's disease [146]. Notably, sCT is the most widely used preparation in clinical practice due to its 40-50 times higher intrinsic potency than that of human calcitonin, as well as its improved analgesic properties [147]. According to a previous study, CS nanocapsules prepared by a solvent displacement method are an effective means of enhancing the oral absorption of sCT and reducing calcemia levels in rats [21]. These positive results were attributed mainly to the unique role of mucoadhesive CS in improving the interaction of the nanocapsules with the absorptive epithelium.

A related study highlighted the crucial role of CS-PEG coating in stabilizing nanocapsules and its ability to maintain the oral absorption of sCT [127]. In vivo studies indicated a significant reduction in the serum calcium levels for at least 24 h, as well as the ability of CS-PEG coated nanocapsules to increase and prolong the intestinal absorption of sCT, depending on the degree of PEGylation on CS.

4.1.4. Cyclosporin A (CsA)

As a hydrophobic peptide commonly used as an immunosuppressive drug, CsA prevents allograft rejection in organ transplantation.



Fig. 12. (A) Sequential plain X-ray images; (B) CT-scan images; and (C) 3D-volume-rendering images of a rat orally treated with the barium sulfate-filled capsule (indicated by arrows). The released barium sulfate was located in the intestine (indicated by arrow heads). Reproduced with permission from Ref. [20], Copyright 2010 Elsevier.

However, the bioavailability of CsA after oral dosage is low, owing to its relatively high molecular weight and lipophilicity and low intestinal permeability [148]. To address this concern, the poorly absorbable CsA was encapsulated within the positively charged NPs by an emulsification solvent diffusion method using emulsifiers and CS hydrochloride salts as charge inducing agents [149]. Following oral administration of CsA-loaded CS NPs to beagle dogs, the relative bioavailability was increased to about 73%, when compared with the reference Neoral® microemulsion. That study also demonstrated that the nature of cationic CS and its mucoadhesion effect on the permeability of GI mucosa significantly affects its ability to increase the absorption rate and the bioavailability of CsA.

Siew et al. recently designed a triple-action nanomedicine using a CS amphiphile, (GCPQ), which significantly enhanced the oral absorption of hydrophobic CsA [84]. Amphiphilic GCPQ bearing pendant alkyl and acyl chains formed self-assembled NPs in aqueous media with a critical micellar concentration in the μ M range. The CsA-loaded GCPQ NPs were extremely stable, with drug remaining entrapped within the NPs for up to 6 months when the product was freeze-dried and stored as a liquid formulation. After the GCPQ formulations were administered to rats, the maximum plasma concentration of CsA increased 5-fold and 2-fold when compared to the drug alone in water and the commercial Neoral® formulation, respectively. Based on their results, that study postulated that the mechanism of absorption enhancement by GCPQ NPs involves increasing dissolution of the drug using NPs, mucoadhesion of NPs to the mucus layer, and transcellular transport of drug molecules across the GI epithelium.

4.2. Nucleic acid delivery

Gene therapy is highly promising for clinical applications involving the insertion of a functioning nucleic acid into cells to correct a cellular dysfunction or providing a new cellular function [150–153]. Nevertheless, nucleic acids fail to be effectively transported across the intestinal epithelium due to their characteristics of large molecular size, hydrophilicity and negative charge. Moreover, nucleic acids are extremely labile in the biological environment and can be readily degraded by nucleases, thus having a low transfection efficiency [154–156]. Therefore, the development of an efficient carrier that can orally deliver and protect nucleic acids to the target cells, as well as allow cellular internalization, endosomal escape and nucleus uptake, is a prerequisite to realize its therapeutic function [157,158].

The M cells of the Peyer's patches can transport a variety of materials, including NPs [43,159] and microparticles [43,160–162], making them attractive portals for oral delivery of therapeutics and for mucosal vaccination [43]. M cells, which cover the gut-associated lymphoid tissue, play a prominent role in initiating the cascade of mucosal immunity. These specialized antigen-sampling epithelial cells are characterized by a high endocytic rate and low degradation ability [159]. Particle uptake by M cells depends on various factors, such as particle size, surface charge, dosage, stability and ligand conjugation [163].

NPs prepared by CS or its derivatives have gained increasing attention as an oral delivery system for therapeutic genes and DNA vaccines. CS can condense and encapsulate plasmid DNA to form NP complexes, capable of adhering to the intestinal epithelium and being transported across the mucosal boundary by M cells and transfect epithelial and/or immune cells in the gut associated lymphoid tissue (Fig. 1A) [164–166]. According to recent studies, their transfection efficiency depends on a number of CS-based formulation parameters, including the molecular weight of CS, its deacetylation degree, complex formulation, and pH environment [158]. This section examines recent advances in oral nucleic acid delivery using CS-based NPs.

While describing oral gene therapy using CS/DNA NPs that carry the murine erythropoietin (Epo) gene, Chen et al. demonstrated their efficacy in delivering genes to intestinal epithelial cells, by an over 25% increase in hematocrit levels [165]. Epo is a glycoprotein, which stimulates red blood cell production; it is used in patients with anemia associated with chronic renal failure, and in cancer patients for stimulation of erythropoiesis during autologous transfusion [165]. Bowman et al. demonstrated the feasibility of using CS NPs as a gene carrier for orally delivering Factor VIII DNA in a mouse model with hemophilia A [167]. According to their results, a high dose oral delivery of CS/DNA NPs yielded higher plasmid copy numbers in Peyer's patch tissue than naked DNA delivery did. Hemophilia A is a disorder of the blood coagulation cascade caused by defective Factor VIII, a protein that normally circulates in the plasma at 100–200 ng/mL [167]. The disease is a popular target for gene therapy due to its low threshold for therapeutic value and wide therapeutic window of Factor VIII [168].

Oral vaccination is a highly promising application of CS NPs. A previous study developed an immunoprophylactic strategy using oral allergen-gene immunization to modulate peanut antigen-induced murine anaphylactic responses [166,169]. Food allergy is a common and often fatal disease with no effective treatment. According to that study, orally administering test NPs prepared by complexing plasmid DNA with CS resulted in a transduced gene expression in the intestinal epithelium, indicating its prophylactic utility in treating peanut allergy [166]. Another study also indicated that orally administered CS/DNA complexes can stimulate an immune response to the principal peanut allergen Arah-2 in Swiss albino mice [169]. Using a similar approach, Chew et al. demonstrated that oral delivery of CS NPs containing DNA vaccine encoding house-dust-mite-allergen Derp 1 and 2 in mice could induce an immune response against dust allergy [170].

4.3. Polysaccharide delivery

As a highly sulfated glycosaminoglycan, heparin is a potent anticoagulant that binds to the enzyme inhibitor antithrombin, causing a conformational change that results in its activation through an increase in the flexibility of its reactive site loop [171]. The activated antithrombin then inactivates thrombin and other proteases involved in blood clotting, especially Factor Xa [171]. Clinically, heparin can prevent deep vein thrombosis and peripheral arterial embolism, as well as reduce the incidence of myocardial infarction and mortality in patients with unstable angina [172].

To facilitate oral delivery of heparin, a NP system shelled with CS was prepared via a simple ionic gelation method to form CS/heparin complexes [18]. The in vitro characterization study demonstrated that this CS NP system could open the TJs between Caco-2 cells and allow the transport of heparin by passive diffusion via the paracellular route. No significant anticoagulant activity was detected after oral administration of the free form heparin solution in rats, indicating the poor oral absorption of heparin without an appropriate delivery system. Alternatively, oral administration of the same dosage of CS/heparin NP complexes could maintain its anti-Factor Xa activity in plasma of 0.2 - 0.3 IU/mL for up to 12 h. The minimum effective concentration to treat deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism was 0.1-0.2 IU/mL [173]. Above results indicate that CS NPs significantly improved the intestinal absorption of heparin, thus markedly increasing its bioavailability to around 20.5%.

5. Conclusions

Although CS-based NPs are highly promising for use as carriers for oral delivery of therapeutic proteins, nucleic acids and polysaccharides, no clinical trials have been conducted. Additionally, toxicological issues of these newly emerging NP systems remain a major concern. Although CS alone is considered safe for oral administration, its properties may change completely after chemical modification. The toxicity of each derivative should be evaluated individually, both in the free form and NP form. Further pre-clinical studies are required to demonstrate the acceptable efficacy and safety of CS-based NP systems. We believe that more pre-clinical studies in the future will expedite and initiate the need for clinical trials in humans, leading to the implementation of CS-based NPs for oral delivery of therapeutic macromolecules.

Acknowledgment

The authors would like to thank the National Science Council of the Republic of China, Taiwan, for financially supporting this research under contract no. NSC 100-2120-M-007-003. We are grateful to our collaborators for their tremendous contributions to this project.

References

- F. Andrade, M. Videira, D. Ferreira, B. Sarmento, Nanocarriers for pulmonary administration of peptides and therapeutic proteins, Nanomedicine 6 (2011) 123–141.
- [2] O. Pillai, R. Panchagnula, Insulin therapies-past, present and future, Drug Discov. Today 6 (2001) 1056-1061.
- [3] M.C. Chen, K. Sonaje, K.J. Chen, H.W. Sung, A review of the prospects for polymeric nanoparticle platforms in oral insulin delivery, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 9826–9838.
- [4] M. Saffran, G.S. Kumar, C. Savariar, J.C. Burnham, F. Williams, D.C. Neckers, A new approach to the oral administration of insulin and other peptide drugs, Science 233 (1986) 1081–1084.
- [5] J.A. Fix, Oral controlled release technology for peptides: status and future prospects, Pharm. Res. 13 (1996) 1760–1764.
- [6] M. Thanou, J. Verhoef, H. Junginger, Oral drug absorption enhancement by chitosan and its derivatives, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 52 (2001) 117–126.
- [7] M.C. Chen, F.L. Mi, Z.X. Liao, H.W. Sung, Chitosan: its applications in drug-eluting devices, Adv. Polym. Sci. 243 (2011) 185–230.
- [8] M. Rinaudo, Chitin and chitosan: properties and applications, Prog. Polym. Sci. 31 (2006) 603–632.
- [9] O. Kanauchi, K. Deuchi, Y. Imasato, E. Kobayashi, Increasing effect of a chitosan and ascorbic acid mixture on fecal dietary fat excretion, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 58 (1994) 1617–1620.
- [10] Y. Maezaki, K. Tsuji, Y. Nakagawa, Y. Kawai, M. Akimoto, T. Tsugita, W. Takekawa, A. Terada, H. Hara, T. Mitsuoka, Hypocholesterolemic effect of chitosan in adult males, Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 57 (1993) 1439–1444.
- [11] K. Arai, T. Kinumari, T. Fujita, On the toxicity of chitosan, Bull. Tokai Reg. Fish. Res. Lab. 56 (1986) 889–892.
- [12] K. Roy, H.Q. Mao, S.K. Huang, K.W. Leong, Oral gene delivery with chitosan-DNA nanoparticles generates immunologic protection in a murine model of peanut allergy, Nat. Med. 5 (1999) 387–391.
- [13] D. Sakloetsakun, G. Perera, J. Hombach, G. Millotti, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, The impact of vehicles on the mucoadhesive properties of orally administrated nanoparticles: a case study with chitosan-4-thiobutylamidine conjugate, AAPS PharmSciTech 11 (2010) 1185–1192.
- [14] T. Sonia, C. Sharma, Chitosan and its derivatives for drug delivery perspective, Adv. Polym. Sci. 243 (2011) 23–54.
- [15] M. Amidi, E. Mastrobattista, W. Jiskoot, W.E. Hennink, Chitosan-based delivery systems for protein therapeutics and antigens, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 59–82.
- [16] K. Sonaje, K.J. Lin, M.T. Tseng, S.P. Wey, F.Y. Su, E.Y. Chuang, C.W. Hsu, C.T. Chen, H.W. Sung, Effects of chitosan-nanoparticle-mediated tight junction opening on the oral absorption of endotoxins, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 8712–8721.
- [17] Y.H. Lin, C.T. Chen, H.F. Liang, A.R. Kulkarni, P.W. Lee, C.H. Chen, H.W. Sung, Novel nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery via the paracellular pathway, Nanotechnology 18 (2007) 105102.
- [18] M.C. Chen, H.S. Wong, K.J. Lin, H.L. Chen, S.P. Wey, K. Sonaje, Y.H. Lin, C.Y. Chu, H.W. Sung, The characteristics, biodistribution and bioavailability of a chitosan-based nanoparticulate system for the oral delivery of heparin, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 6629–6637.
- [19] B. Sarmento, A. Ribeiro, F. Veiga, D. Ferreira, R. Neufeld, Oral bioavailability of insulin contained in polysaccharide nanoparticles, Biomacromolecules 8 (2007) 3054–3060.
- [20] H.N. Nguyen, S.P. Wey, J.H. Juang, K. Sonaje, Y.C. Ho, E.Y. Chuang, C.W. Hsu, T.C. Yen, K.J. Lin, H.W. Sung, The glucose-lowering potential of exendin-4 orally delivered via a pH-sensitive nanoparticle vehicle and effects on subsequent insulin secretion in vivo, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 2673–2682.
- [21] C. Prego, M. Fabre, D. Torres, M. Alonso, Efficacy and mechanism of action of chitosan nanocapsules for oral peptide delivery, Pharm. Res. 23 (2006) 549–556.
- [22] I. Bravo-Osuna, C. Vauthier, A. Farabollini, G.F. Palmieri, G. Ponchel, Mucoadhesion mechanism of chitosan and thiolated chitosan-poly (isobutyl cyanoacrylate) core-shell nanoparticles, Biomaterials 28 (2007) 2233–2243.
- [23] A.F. Kotze, H.L. Luessen, A.G. de Boer, J.C. Verhoef, H.E. Junginger, Chitosan for enhanced intestinal permeability: prospects for derivatives soluble in neutral and basic environments, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 7 (1999) 145–151.
- [24] A.M. Sadeghi, F.A. Dorkoosh, M.R. Avadi, M. Weinhold, A. Bayat, F. Delie, R. Gurny, B. Larijani, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, H.E. Junginger, Permeation enhancer effect of

chitosan and chitosan derivatives: comparison of formulations as soluble polymers and nanoparticulate systems on insulin absorption in Caco-2 cells, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 70 (2008) 270–278.

- [25] G. Sandri, M.C. Bonferoni, S. Rossi, F. Ferrari, C. Boselli, C. Caramella, Insulin-loaded nanoparticles based on N-trimethyl chitosan: in vitro (Caco-2 model) and ex vivo (excised rat jejunum, duodenum, and ileum) evaluation of penetration enhancement properties, AAPS PharmSciTech 11 (2010) 362–371.
- [26] A. Singla, M. Chawla, Chitosan: some pharmaceutical and biological aspects—an update, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 53 (2001) 1047–1067.
- [27] R. Hejazi, M. Amiji, Chitosan-based gastrointestinal delivery systems, J. Control. Release 89 (2003) 151–165.
- [28] M. Thanou, A. Kotze, T. Scharringhausen, H. Lueßen, A. De Boer, J. Verhoef, H. Junginger, Effect of degree of quaternization of N-trimethyl chitosan chloride for enhanced transport of hydrophilic compounds across intestinal Caco-2 cell monolayers, J. Control. Release 64 (2000) 15–25.
- [29] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, M. Hornof, T. Zoidl, Thiolated polymers-thiomers: synthesis and in vitro evaluation of chitosan-2-iminothiolane conjugates, Int. J. Pharm. 260 (2003) 229–237.
- [30] M. Roldo, M. Hornof, P. Caliceti, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Mucoadhesive thiolated chitosans as platforms for oral controlled drug delivery: synthesis and in vitro evaluation, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 57 (2004) 115–121.
- [31] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, D. Guggi, Y. Pinter, Thiolated chitosans: development and in vitro evaluation of a mucoadhesive, permeation enhancing oral drug delivery system, J. Control. Release 94 (2004) 177–186.
- [32] N.N. Salama, N.D. Eddington, A. Fasano, Tight junction modulation and its relationship to drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 58 (2006) 15–28.
- [33] S.P. Balcerzak, W.C. Lane, J.W. Bullard, Surface structure of intestinal epithelium, Gastroenterology 58 (1970) 49–55.
- [34] H. Cheng, C.P. Leblond, Origin, differentiation and renewal of the four main epithelial cell types in the mouse small intestine I. Columnar cell, Am. J. Anat. 141 (1974) 461–479.
- [35] L.R. Johnson, K.E. Barret, F.K. Gishan, J.L. Merchant, H.M. Said, J.D. Wood, Physiology of the gastrointestinal tract. 4th edition, in: E.M. Wright, D.D.F. Loo, B.A. Hirayama, and E. Turk (eds.), Chapter 64. Sugar Absorption, edited by Johnson et al. Elsevier Inc., San Diego, 2006, pp. 1653–1665.
- [36] M. Neutra, R. Grand, J. Trier, Glycoprotein synthesis, transport, and secretion by epithelial cells of human rectal mucosa: normal and cystic fibrosis, Lab. Invest. 36 (1977) 535–546.
- [37] M. Neutra, C. Leblond, Synthesis of the carbohydrate of mucus in the Golgi complex as shown by electron microscope radioautography of goblet cells from rats injected with glucose-H3, J. Cell Biol. 30 (1966) 119–136.
- [38] H. Kiyono, S. Fukuyama, NALT- versus Peyer's-patch-mediated mucosal immunity, Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4 (2004) 699–710.
- [39] D.L. Bourdet, G.M. Pollack, D.R. Thakker, Intestinal absorptive transport of the hydrophilic cation ranitidine: a kinetic modeling approach to elucidate the role of uptake and efflux transporters and paracellular vs. transcellular transport in Caco-2 cells, Pharm. Res. 23 (2006) 1178–1187.
- [40] Y.H. Lin, F.L. Mi, C.T. Chen, W.C. Chang, S.F. Peng, H.F. Liang, H.W. Sung, Preparation and characterization of nanoparticles shelled with chitosan for oral insulin delivery, Biomacromolecules 8 (2007) 146–152.
- [41] N. Angelova, D. Hunkeler, Effect of preparation conditions on properties and permeability of chitosansodium hexametaphosphate capsules, J. Biomater. Sci. Polym. Ed. 12 (2001) 1317–1337.
- [42] I. Behrens, A.I.V. Pena, M.J. Alonso, T. Kissel, Comparative uptake studies of bioadhesive and non-bioadhesive nanoparticles in human intestinal cell lines and rats: the effect of mucus on particle adsorption and transport, Pharm. Res. 19 (2002) 1185–1193.
- [43] I. Kadiyala, Y. Loo, K. Roy, J. Rice, K.W. Leong, Transport of chitosan–DNA nanoparticles in human intestinal M-cell model versus normal intestinal enterocytes, Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 39 (2010) 103–109.
- [44] A. Des Rieux, V. Fievez, M. Garinot, Y.J. Schneider, V. Préat, Nanoparticles as potential oral delivery systems of proteins and vaccines: a mechanistic approach, J. Control. Release 116 (2006) 1–27.
- [45] A.T. Florence, Nanoparticle uptake by the oral route: fulfilling its potential? Drug Discov. Today 2 (2005) 75–81.
- [46] M.P. Desai, V. Labhasetwar, G.L. Amidon, R.J. Levy, Gastrointestinal uptake of biodegradable microparticles: effect of particle size, Pharm. Res. 13 (1996) 1838–1845.
- [47] A.T. Florence, The oral absorption of micro-and nanoparticulates: neither exceptional nor unusual, Pharm. Res. 14 (1997) 259–266.
- [48] E. Acosta, Bioavailability of nanoparticles in nutrient and nutraceutical delivery, Colloid Interface Sci. 14 (2009) 3–15.
- [49] H. Takeuchi, H. Yamamoto, Y. Kawashima, Mucoadhesive nanoparticulate systems for peptide drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 47 (2001) 39–54.
- [50] L. Yin, J. Ding, C. He, L. Cui, C. Tang, C. Yin, Drug permeability and mucoadhesion properties of thiolated trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles in oral insulin delivery, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 5691–5700.
- [51] R. Soane, M. Frier, A. Perkins, N. Jones, S. Davis, L. Illum, Evaluation of the clearance characteristics of bioadhesive systems in humans, Int. J. Pharm. 178 (1999) 55–65.
- [52] M. Magdalena Canali, L. Pedrotti, J. Balsinde, C. Ibarra, S.G. Correa, Chitosan enhances transcellular permeability in human and rat intestine epithelium, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 80 (2012) 418–425.
- [53] O. Borges, A. Cordeiro-da-Silva, S.G. Romeijn, M. Amidi, A. De Sousa, G. Borchard, H.E. Junginger, Uptake studies in rat Peyer's patches, cytotoxicity and release studies of alginate coated chitosan nanoparticles for mucosal vaccination, J. Control. Release 114 (2006) 348–358.

- [54] C.B. Woitiski, B. Sarmento, R.A. Carvalho, R.J. Neufeld, F. Veiga, Facilitated nanoscale delivery of insulin across intestinal membrane models, Int. J. Pharm. 412 (2011) 123–131.
- [55] A. Banan, L. Zhang, M. Shaikh, J. Fields, S. Choudhary, C. Forsyth, A. Farhadi, A. Keshavarzian, θ Isoform of protein kinase C alters barrier function in intestinal epithelium through modulation of distinct claudin isotypes: a novel mechanism for regulation of permeability, J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 313 (2005) 962–982.
- [56] S.M. Stamatovic, R.F. Keep, S.L. Kunkel, A.V. Andjelkovic, Potential role of MCP-1 in endothelial cell tight junction opening: signaling via Rho and Rho kinase, J. Cell Sci. 116 (2003) 4615–4628.
- [57] S. Tsukita, M. Furuse, M. Itoh, Multifunctional strands in tight junctions, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 2 (2001) 285–293.
- [58] P. Sheth, G. Samak, J. Shull, A. Seth, R. Rao, Protein phosphatase 2A plays a role in hydrogen peroxide-induced disruption of tight junctions in Caco-2 cell monolayers, Biochem. J. 421 (2009) 59–70.
- [59] S. Tsukita, M. Furuse, Pores in the wall: claudins constitute tight junction strands containing aqueous pores, J. Cell Biol. 149 (2000) 13–16.
- [60] T.H. Yeh, L.W. Hsu, M.T. Tseng, P.L. Lee, K. Sonjae, Y.C. Ho, H.W. Sung, Mechanism and consequence of chitosan-mediated reversible epithelial tight junction opening, Biomaterials 32 (2011) 6164–6173.
- [61] K. Sonaje, E.Y. Chuang, K.J. Lin, T.C. Yen, F.Y. Su, M.T. Tseng, H.W. Sung, Opening of epithelial tight junctions and enhancement of paracellular permeation by chitosan: microscopic, ultra-structural and computed-tomographic observations, Mol. Pharm. (2012), http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/mp200572t.
- [62] A. Domard, pH and cd measurements on a fully deacetylated chitosan: application to Cull-polymer interactions, Int. J. Biol. Macromol. 9 (1987) 98–104.
- [63] H.N. Nellans, (B) Mechanisms of peptide and protein absorption: (1) paracellular intestinal transport: modulation of absorption, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 7 (1991) 339–364.
- [64] A. Adson, P.S. Burton, T.J. Raub, C.L. Barsuhn, K.L. Audus, N.F. Ho, Passive diffusion of weak organic electrolytes across Caco-2 cell monolayers: uncoupling the contributions of hydrodynamic, transcellular, and paracellular barriers, J. Pharm. Sci. 84 (1995) 1197–1204.
- [65] K. Sonaje, Y.H. Lin, J.H. Juang, S.P. Wey, C.T. Chen, H.W. Sung, In vivo evaluation of safety and efficacy of self-assembled nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery, Biomaterials 30 (2009) 2329–2339.
- [66] K. Sonaje, K.J. Lin, J.J. Wang, F.L. Mi, C.T. Chen, J.H. Juang, H.W. Sung, Self-assembled pH-sensitive nanoparticles: a platform for oral delivery of protein drugs, Adv. Funct. Mater. 20 (2010) 3695–3700.
- [67] N. Bhattarai, J. Gunn, M. Zhang, Chitosan-based hydrogels for controlled, localized drug delivery, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 83–99.
- [68] M. Dash, F. Chiellini, R. Ottenbrite, E. Chiellini, Chitosan-A versatile semi-synthetic polymer in biomedical applications, Prog. Polym. Sci. 36 (2011) 981–1014.
- [69] M. George, T.E. Abraham, Polyionic hydrocolloids for the intestinal delivery of protein drugs: alginate and chitosan—a review, J. Control. Release 114 (2006) 1–14.
- [70] H. Sashiwa, S. Aiba, Chemically modified chitin and chitosan as biomaterials, Prog. Polym. Sci. 29 (2004) 887–908.
- [71] A.F. Kotzé, M.M. Thanou, H.L. Lueben, A. De Boer, J. Verhoef, H.E. Junginger, Enhancement of paracellular drug transport with highly quaternized N-trimethyl chitosan chloride in neutral environments: in vitro evaluation in intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2), J. Pharm. Sci. 88 (1999) 253–257.
- [72] A. Bayat, F.A. Dorkoosh, A.R. Dehpour, L. Moezi, B. Larijani, H.E. Junginger, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, Nanoparticles of quaternized chitosan derivatives as a carrier for colon delivery of insulin: ex vivo and in vivo studies, Int. J. Pharm. 356 (2008) 259–266.
- [73] M. Amidi, S.G. Romeijn, G. Borchard, H.E. Junginger, W.E. Hennink, W. Jiskoot, Preparation and characterization of protein-loaded N-trimethyl chitosan nanoparticles as nasal delivery system, J. Control. Release 111 (2006) 107–116.
- [74] F.L. Mi, Y.Y. Wu, Y.H. Lin, K. Sonaje, Y.C. Ho, C.T. Chen, J.H. Juang, H.W. Sung, Oral delivery of peptide drugs using nanoparticles self-assembled by poly(γ-glutamic acid) and a chitosan derivative functionalized by trimethylation, Bioconjug. Chem. 19 (2008) 1248–1255.
- [75] Y. Jin, Y. Song, X. Zhu, D. Zhou, C. Chen, Z. Zhang, Y. Huang, Goblet cell-targeting nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery and the influence of mucus on insulin transport, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 1573–1582.
- [76] F. Qian, F. Cui, J. Ding, C. Tang, C. Yin, Chitosan graft copolymer nanoparticles for oral protein drug delivery: preparation and characterization, Biomacromolecules 7 (2006) 2722–2727.
- [77] A. Bayat, B. Larijani, S. Ahmadian, H.E. Junginger, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, Preparation and characterization of insulin nanoparticles using chitosan and its quaternized derivatives, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. 4 (2008) 115–120.
- [78] A. Sadeghi, F. Dorkoosh, M. Avadi, M. Weinhold, A. Bayat, F. Delie, R. Gurny, B. Larijani, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, H. Junginger, Permeation enhancer effect of chitosan and chitosan derivatives: comparison of formulations as soluble polymers and nanoparticulate systems on insulin absorption in Caco-2 cells, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 70 (2008) 270–278.
- [79] A. Bayat, A. Sadeghi, M. Avadi, M. Amini, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, A. Shafiee, R. Majlesi, H. Junginger, Synthesis of N, N-dimethyl N-ethyl chitosan as a carrier for oral delivery of peptide drugs, J. Bioact. Compat. Polym. 21 (2006) 433–444.
- [80] M. Ávadi, Á. Jalali, Á. Sadeghi, K. Shamimi, K. Bayati, E. Nahid, A. Dehpour, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, Diethyl methyl chitosan as an intestinal paracellular enhancer: ex vivo and in vivo studies, Int. J. Pharm. 293 (2005) 83-89.
- [81] A.M.M. Sadeghi, F. Dorkoosh, M. Avadi, P. Saadat, M. Rafiee-Tehrani, H. Junginger, Preparation, characterization and antibacterial activities of chitosan, N-trimethyl chitosan (TMC) and N-diethylmethyl chitosan (DEMC) nanoparticles loaded with

insulin using both the ionotropic gelation and polyelectrolyte complexation methods, Int. J. Pharm. 355 (2008) 299–306.

- [82] J. Kowapradit, P. Opanasopit, T. Ngawhirunpat, A. Apirakaramwong, T. Rojanarata, U. Ruktanonchai, W. Sajomsang, In vitro permeability enhancement in intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2) monolayer of water soluble quaternary ammonium chitosan derivatives, AAPS PharmSciTech 11 (2010) 497–508.
- [83] I.F. Uchegbu, L. Sadiq, M. Arastoo, A.I. Gray, W. Wang, R.D. Waigh, A.G. Schätzleinä, Quaternary ammonium palmitoyl glycol chitosan—a new polysoap for drug delivery, Int. J. Pharm. 224 (2001) 185–199.
- [84] A. Siew, H. Le, M. Thiovolet, A. Schätzlein, P. Gellert, I. Uchegbu, Enhanced oral absorption of hydrophobic and hydrophilic drugs using quaternary ammonium palmitoyl glycol chitosan nanoparticles, Mol. Pharm. 9 (2012) 14–28.
- [85] M.N.V.R. Kumar, R.A.A. Muzzarelli, C. Muzzarelli, H. Sashiwa, A.J. Domb, Chitosan chemistry and pharmaceutical perspectives, Chem. Rev. 104 (2004) 6017–6084.
- [86] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Thiomers: a new generation of mucoadhesive polymers, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 57 (2005) 1569–1582.
- [87] C.E. Kast, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Thiolated polymers-thiomers: development and in vitro evaluation of chitosan-thioglycolic acid conjugates, Biomaterials 22 (2001) 2345–2352.
- [88] X. Wang, C. Zheng, Z. Wu, D. Teng, X. Zhang, Z. Wang, C. Li, Chitosan-NAC nanoparticles as a vehicle for nasal absorption enhancement of insulin, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. 88 (2009) 150–161.
- [89] K. Kafedjiiski, F. Föger, M. Werle, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of a novel chitosan–glutathione conjugate, Pharm. Res. 22 (2005) 1480–1488.
- [90] F. Föger, T. Schmitz, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, In vivo evaluation of an oral delivery system for P-gp substrates based on thiolated chitosan, Biomaterials 27 (2006) 4250–4255.
- [91] K. Kafedjiiski, A.H. Krauland, M.H. Hoffer, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of a novel thiolated chitosan, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 819–826.
- [92] K. Kafedjiiski, M. Hoffer, M. Werle, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Improved synthesis and in vitro characterization of chitosan-thioethylamidine conjugate, Biomaterials 27 (2006) 127–135.
- [93] V.M. Leitner, G.F. Walker, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Thiolated polymers: evidence for the formation of disulphide bonds with mucus glycoproteins, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 56 (2003) 207–214.
- [94] I. Bravo-Osuna, D. Teutonico, S. Arpicco, C. Vauthier, G. Ponchel, Characterization of chitosan thiolation and application to thiol quantification onto nanoparticle surface, Int. J. Pharm. 340 (2007) 173–181.
- [95] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Y. Pinter, D. Guggi, H. Kahlbacher, G. Schöffmann, M. Schuh, I. Schmerold, M.D. Del Curto, M. D'Antonio, P. Esposito, The use of thiolated polymers as carrier matrix in oral peptide delivery—proof of concept, J. Control. Release 106 (2005) 26–33.
- [96] S. Dunnhaupt, J. Barthelmes, J. Hombach, D. Sakloetsakun, V. Arkhipova, A. Bernkop-Schnurch, Distribution of thiolated mucoadhesive nanoparticles on intestinal mucosa, Int. J. Pharm. 408 (2011) 191–199.
- [97] S. Sajeesh, C. Vauthier, C. Gueutin, G. Ponchel, C.P. Sharma, Thiol functionalized polymethacrylic acid-based hydrogel microparticles for oral insulin delivery, Acta Biomater. 6 (2010) 3072–3080.
- [98] R. Martien, B. Loretz, M. Thaler, S. Majzoob, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Chitosanthioglycolic acid conjugate: an alternative carrier for oral nonviral gene delivery? J. Biomed. Mater. Res. A 82 (2007) 1–9.
- [99] G. Di Colo, Y. Zambito, C. Zaino, Polymeric enhancers of mucosal epithelia permeability: synthesis, transepithelial penetration-enhancing properties, mechanism of action, safety issues, J. Pharm. Sci. 97 (2008) 1652–1680.
- [100] X. Zhao, L. Yin, J. Ding, C. Tang, S. Gu, C. Yin, Y. Mao, Thiolated trimethyl chitosan nanocomplexes as gene carriers with high in vitro and in vivo transfection efficiency, J. Control. Release 144 (2010) 46–54.
- [101] R. Jayakumar, M. Prabaharan, S. Nair, S. Tokura, H. Tamura, N. Selvamurugan, Novel carboxymethyl derivatives of chitin and chitosan materials and their biomedical applications, Prog. Mater. Sci. 55 (2010) 675–709.
- [102] X. Fei Liu, Y. Lin Guan, D. Zhi Yang, Z. Li, K. De Yao, Antibacterial action of chitosan and carboxymethylated chitosan, J. Appl. Polym. Sci. 79 (2001) 1324–1335.
- [103] F. Cui, C. He, L. Yin, F. Qian, M. He, C. Tang, C. Yin, Nanoparticles incorporated in bilaminated films: a smart drug delivery system for oral formulations, Biomacromolecules 8 (2007) 2845–2850.
- [104] F. Cui, F. Qian, Z. Zhao, L. Yin, C. Tang, C. Yin, Preparation, characterization, and oral delivery of insulin loaded carboxylated chitosan grafted poly (methyl methacrylate) nanoparticles, Biomacromolecules 10 (2009) 1253–1258.
- [105] C. Le Tien, M. Lacroix, P. Ispas-Szabo, M.A. Mateescu, N-acylated chitosan: hydrophobic matrices for controlled drug release, J. Control. Release 93 (2003) 1–13.
- [106] O. Ortona, G. D'Errico, G. Mangiapia, D. Ciccarelli, The aggregative behavior of hydrophobically modified chitosans with high substitution degree in aqueous solution, Carbohydr. Polym. 74 (2008) 16–22.
- [107] Z. Zhao, M. He, L. Yin, J. Bao, L. Shi, B. Wang, C. Tang, C. Yin, Biodegradable nanoparticles based on linoleic acid and poly(β-malic acid) double grafted chitosan derivatives as carriers of anticancer drugs, Biomacromolecules 10 (2009) 565–572.
- [108] Y. Wang, S. Tu, R. Li, X.Y. Yang, L. Liu, Q. Zhang, Cholesterol succinyl chitosan anchored liposomes: preparation, characterization, physical stability, and drug release behavior, Nanomed. Nanotechnol. 6 (2010) 471–477.
- [109] F.Q. Hu, X. Wu, Y.Z. Du, J. You, H. Yuan, Cellular uptake and cytotoxicity of shell crosslinked stearic acid-grafted chitosan oligosaccharide micelles encapsulating doxorubicin, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 69 (2008) 117–125.
- [110] J.H. Park, G. Saravanakumar, K. Kim, I.C. Kwon, Targeted delivery of low molecular drugs using chitosan and its derivatives, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 28–41.

- [111] S.E. Harding, Trends in muco-adhesive analysis, Trends Food Sci. Technol. 17 (2006) 255–262.
- [112] M. Rekha, C.P. Sharma, Synthesis and evaluation of lauryl succinyl chitosan particles towards oral insulin delivery and absorption, J. Control. Release 135 (2009) 144–151.
- [113] M. Malmsten, E. Blomberg, P. Claesson, I. Carlstedt, I. Ljusegren, Mucin layers on hydrophobic surfaces studied with ellipsometry and surface force measurements, J. Colloid Interface Sci. 151 (1992) 579–590.
- [114] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Chitosan and its derivatives: potential excipients for peroral peptide delivery systems, Int. J. Pharm. 194 (2000) 1–13.
- [115] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, The use of inhibitory agents to overcome the enzymatic barrier to perorally administered therapeutic peptides and proteins, J. Control. Release 52 (1998) 1–16.
- [116] S. Citi, Protein kinase inhibitors prevent junction dissociation induced by low extracellular calcium in MDCK epithelial cells, J. cell Biol. 117 (1992) 169–178.
- [117] X. Guo, J.N. Rao, L. Liu, T.T. Zou, D.J. Turner, B.L. Bass, J.Y. Wang, Regulation of adherens junctions and epithelial paracellular permeability: a novel function for polyamines, Am. J. Physiol. Cell Physiol. 285 (2003) C1174–C1187.
- [118] V. Mourya, N.N. Inamdar, Chitosan-modifications and applications: opportunities galore, React. Funct. Polym. 68 (2008) 1013–1051.
- [119] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, A. Scerbe-Saiko, Synthesis and in vitro evaluation of chitosan-EDTA-protease-inhibitor conjugates which might be useful in oral delivery of peptides and proteins, Pharm. Res. 15 (1998) 263–269.
- [120] A. Bernkop-Schnürch, M.E. Krajicek, Mucoadhesive polymers as platforms for peroral peptide delivery and absorption: synthesis and evaluation of different chitosan–EDTA conjugates, J. Control. Release 50 (1998) 215–223.
- [121] F.M. Veronese, G. Pasut, PEGylation, successful approach to drug delivery, Drug Discov. Today 10 (2005) 1451–1458.
- [122] M. Malhotra, C. Lane, C. Tomaro-Duchesneau, S. Saha, S. Prakash, A novel method for synthesizing PEGylated chitosan nanoparticles: strategy, preparation, and in vitro analysis, Int. J. Nanomedicine 6 (2011) 485–494.
- [123] O. Mehmet Saka, A. Bozkir, Formulation and in vitro characterization of PEGylated chitosan and polyethylene imine polymers with thrombospondin-I gene bearing pDNA, J. Biomed. Mater. Res. B Appl. Biomater. 100 (2012) 984–992.
- [124] A. Chaudhury, S. Das, Recent advancement of chitosan-based nanoparticles for oral controlled delivery of insulin and other therapeutic agents, AAPS PharmSciTech 12 (2011) 10–20.
- [125] A. Jintapattanakit, V.B. Junyaprasert, T. Kissel, The role of mucoadhesion of trimethyl chitosan and PEGylated trimethyl chitosan nanocomplexes in insulin uptake, J. Pharm. Sci. 98 (2009) 4818–4830.
- [126] S. Lelu, S.P. Strand, J. Steine, C.L. Davies, Effect of PEGylation on the diffusion and stability of chitosan–DNA polyplexes in collagen gels, Biomacromolecules 12 (2011) 3656–3665.
- [127] C. Prego, D. Torres, E. Fernandez-Megia, R. Novoa-Carballal, E. Quinoa, M. Alonso, Chitosan-PEG nanocapsules as new carriers for oral peptide delivery: effect of chitosan PEGylation degree, J. Control. Release 111 (2006) 299–308.
- [128] S. Mao, X. Shuai, F. Unger, M. Wittmar, X. Xie, T. Kissel, Synthesis, characterization and cytotoxicity of poly(ethylene glycol)-graft-trimethyl chitosan block copolymers, Biomaterials 26 (2005) 6343–6356.
- [129] S. Frokjaer, D.E. Otzen, Protein drug stability: a formulation challenge, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4 (2005) 298–306.
- [130] J. Gordon Still, Development of oral insulin: progress and current status, Diabetes Metab. Res. Rev. 18 (2002) S29-S37.
- [131] C.B. Woitiski, R.A. Carvalho, A.J. Ribeiro, R.J. Neufeld, F. Veiga, Strategies toward the improved oral delivery of insulin nanoparticles via gastrointestinal uptake and translocation, BioDrugs 22 (2008) 223–237.
- [132] C. Damgé, P. Maincent, N. Ubrich, Oral delivery of insulin associated to polymeric nanoparticles in diabetic rats, J. Control. Release 117 (2007) 163–170.
- [133] E. Arbit, The physiological rationale for oral insulin administration, Diabetes Technol. Ther. 6 (2004) 510–517.
- [134] F.Y. Su, K.J. Lin, K. Sonaje, S.P. Wey, T.C. Yen, Y.C. Ho, N. Panda, E.Y. Chuang, B. Maiti, H.W. Sung, Protease inhibition and absorption enhancement by functional nanoparticles for effective oral insulin delivery, Biomaterials 33 (2012) 2801–2811.
- [135] J.H. Hamman, G.M. Enslin, A.F. Kotze, Oral delivery of peptide drugs: barriers and developments, BioDrugs 19 (2005) 165–177.
- [136] K. Sonaje, Y.J. Chen, H.L. Chen, S.P. Wey, J.H. Juang, H.N. Nguyen, C.W. Hsu, K.J. Lin, H.W. Sung, Enteric-coated capsules filled with freeze-dried chitosan/poly ([gamma]-glutamic acid) nanoparticles for oral insulin delivery, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 3384–3394.
- [137] K. Sonaje, K.J. Lin, S.P. Wey, C.K. Lin, T.H. Yeh, H.N. Nguyen, C.W. Hsu, T.C. Yen, J.H. Juang, H.W. Sung, Biodistribution, pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetics of insulin analogues in a rat model: oral delivery using pH-Responsive nanoparticles vs. subcutaneous injection, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 6849–6858.
- [138] B. Sarmento, A. Ribeiro, F. Veiga, P. Sampaio, R. Neufeld, D. Ferreira, Alginate/chitosan nanoparticles are effective for oral insulin delivery, Pharm. Res. 24 (2007) 2198–2206.
- [139] J.J. Wang, Z.W. Zeng, R.Z. Xiao, T. Xie, G.L. Zhou, X.R. Zhan, S.L. Wang, Recent advances of chitosan nanoparticles as drug carriers, Int. J. Nanomedicine 6 (2011) 765–774.
- [140] M. Werle, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, Thiolated chitosans: useful excipients for oral drug delivery, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 60 (2008) 273–281.
- [141] D. Guggi, C.E. Kast, A. Bernkop-Schnürch, In vivo evaluation of an oral salmon calcitonin-delivery system based on a thiolated chitosan carrier matrix, Pharm. Res. 20 (2003) 1989–1994.
- [142] M. Szayna, M.É. Doyle, J.A. Betkey, H.W. Holloway, R.G.S. Spencer, N.H. Greig, J.M. Egan, Exendin-4 decelerates food intake, weight gain, and fat deposition in Zucker rats, Endocrinology 141 (2000) 1936–1941.

- [143] B.R. Gedulin, P.A. Smith, C.M. Jodka, K. Chen, S. Bhavsar, L.L. Nielsen, D.G. Parkes, A.A. Young, Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of exenatide following alternate routes of administration, Int. J. Pharm. 356 (2008) 231–238.
- [144] X. Ding, N.K. Saxena, S. Lin, N. Gupta, F.A. Anania, Exendin-4, a glucagon-like protein-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonist, reverses hepatic steatosis in ob/ob mice, Hepatology 43 (2006) 173-181.
- [145] S. Norris, N. Lee, S. Thakurta, B. Chan, Exenatide efficacy and safety: a systematic review, Diabet. Med. 26 (2009) 837–846.
- [146] C. Chesnut, M. Azria, S. Silverman, M. Engelhardt, M. Olson, L. Mindeholm, Salmon calcitonin: a review of current and future therapeutic indications, Osteoporos. Int. 19 (2008) 479–491.
- [147] M. Azria, D. Copp, J. Zanelli, 25 years of salmon calcitonin: from synthesis to therapeutic use, Calcif. Tissue Int. 57 (1995) 405–408.
- [148] J. Tjia, I. Webber, D. Back, Cyclosporin metabolism by the gastrointestinal mucosa, J. Clin. Pharmacol. 31 (1991) 344–346.
- [149] M. El-Shabouri, Positively charged nanoparticles for improving the oral bioavailability of cyclosporin-A, Int. J. Pharm. 249 (2002) 101–108.
- [150] D.W. Pack, A.S. Hoffman, S. Pun, P.S. Stayton, Design and development of polymers for gene delivery, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 4 (2005) 581–593.
- [151] Z.X. Liao, Y.C. Ho, H.L. Chen, S.F. Peng, C.W. Hsiao, H.W. Sung, Enhancement of efficiencies of the cellular uptake and gene silencing of chitosan/siRNA complexes via the inclusion of a negatively charged poly[gamma]-glutamic acid, Biomaterials 31 (2010) 8780–8788.
- [152] S.J. Tseng, S.C. Tang, Synthesis and characterization of the novel transfection reagent poly (amino ester glycol urethane), Biomacromolecules 8 (2007) 50–58.
- [153] J. Zhou, J. Liu, C.J. Cheng, T.R. Patel, C.E. Weller, J.M. Piepmeier, Z. Jiang, W.M. Saltzman, Biodegradable poly(amine-co-ester) terpolymers for targeted gene delivery, Nat. Mater. 11 (2011) 82–90.
- [154] Z.X. Liao, S.F. Peng, Y.C. Ho, F.L. Mi, B. Maiti, H.W. Sung, Mechanistic study of transfection of chitosan/DNA complexes coated by anionic poly(γ-glutamic acid), Biomaterials (2012) 3306–3315.
- [155] T. Kim, M. Lee, S.W. Kim, Efficient GLP-1 gene delivery using two-step transcription amplification plasmid system with a secretion signal peptide and arginine-grafted bioreducible polymer, J. Control. Release 157 (2012) 243–248.
- [156] S. Tseng, C.J. Chuang, S.C. Tang, Electrostatic immobilization of DNA polyplexes on small intestinal submucosa for tissue substrate-mediated transfection, Acta Biomater. 4 (2008) 799–807.
- [157] Y.C. Ho, Z.X. Liao, N. Panda, D.W. Tang, S.H. Yu, F.L. Mi, H.W. Sung, Self-organized nanoparticles prepared by guanidine-and disulfide-modified chitosan as a gene delivery carrier, J. Mater. Chem. 21 (2011) 16918–16927.
- [158] S. Mao, W. Sun, T. Kissel, Chitosan-based formulations for delivery of DNA and siRNA, Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62 (2010) 12–27.
- [159] M. Garinot, V. Fiévez, V. Pourcelle, F. Stoffelbach, A. Des Rieux, L. Plapied, I. Theate, H. Freichels, C. Jérôme, J. Marchand-Brynaert, PEGylated PLGA-based nanoparticles targeting M cells for oral vaccination, J. Control. Release 120 (2007) 195–204.
- [160] T.H. Ermak, E.P. Dougherty, H.R. Bhagat, Z. Kabok, J. Pappo, Uptake and transport of copolymer biodegradable microspheres by rabbit Peyer's patch M cells, Cell Tissue Res. 279 (1995) 433–436.
- [161] I. Van der Lubben, J. Verhoef, A. Van Aelst, G. Borchard, H. Junginger, Chitosan microparticles for oral vaccination: preparation, characterization and preliminary in vivo uptake studies in murine Peyer's patches, Biomaterials 22 (2001) 687–694.
- [162] M. Jepson, N. Simmons, D. O'hagan, B. Hirst, Comparison of poly(DL-lactideco-glycolide) and polystyrene microsphere targeting to intestinal M cells, J. Drug Target. 1 (1993) 245–249.
- [163] D. O'hagan, The intestinal uptake of particles and the implications for drug and antigen delivery, J. Anat. 189 (1996) 477–482.
- [164] T. Ishii, Y. Okahata, T. Sato, Mechanism of cell transfection with plasmid/chitosan complexes, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1514 (2001) 51–64.
- [165] J. Chen, W.L. Yang, G. Li, J. Qian, J.L. Xue, S.K. Fu, D.R. Lu, Transfection of mEpo gene to intestinal epithelium in vivo mediated by oral delivery of chitosan-DNA nanoparticles, World J. Gastroenterol. 10 (2004) 112–116.
- [166] T. Hammond, F. Lewis, T. Goodwin, R. Linnehan, D. Wolf, K. Hire, W. Campbell, E. Benes, K. O'Reilly, R. Globus, Gene expression in space, Nat. Med. 5 (1999) 359.
- [167] K. Bowman, R. Sarkar, S. Raut, K.W. Leong, Gene transfer to hemophilia A mice via oral delivery of FVIII-chitosan nanoparticles, J. Control. Release 132 (2008) 252–259.
- [168] T. VandenDriessche, D. Collen, M. Chuah, Gene therapy for the hemophilias, J. Thromb. Haemost. 1 (2003) 1550–1558.
- [169] U. Guliyeva, F. Oner, S. Ozsoy, R. Haziroğlu, Chitosan microparticles containing plasmid DNA as potential oral gene delivery system, Eur. J. Pharm. Biopharm. 62 (2006) 17–25.
- [170] J.L. Chew, C.B. Wolfowicz, H.Q. Mao, K.W. Leong, K.Y. Chua, Chitosan nanoparticles containing plasmid DNA encoding house dust mite allergen, Der p 1 for oral vaccination in mice, Vaccine 21 (2003) 2720–2729.
- [171] Y.J. Chuang, R. Swanson, S.M. Raja, S.T. Olson, Heparin enhances the specificity of antithrombin for thrombin and factor Xa independent of the reactive center loop sequence, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 14961–14971.
- [172] R.A. Baughman, S.C. Kapoor, R.K. Agarwal, J. Kisicki, F. Catella-Lawson, G.A. FitzGerald, Oral delivery of anticoagulant doses of heparin: a randomized, double-blind, controlled study in humans, Circulation 98 (1998) 1610–1615.
- [173] S.K. Kim, B. Vaishali, E. Lee, S. Lee, Y. Lee, T.S. Kumar, H.T. Moon, Y. Byun, Oral delivery of chemical conjugates of heparin and deoxycholic acid in aqueous formulation, Thromb. Res. 117 (2006) 419–427.